THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. S. Jackson Kimball, III
Special Circuit Court Judge
York County Master in Equity

RECEIVED
MAY 02 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Trial Case No. 2017-CP-46-00867
Appellant Case No. 2017-002024

Michael Frank, individually, and as the parent and guardian of a minor, Appellant;

vs.

South Carolina Department of Social Services.....Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Halford, Niemiec & Freeman, L.L.P.

J. Cameron Halford
S.C. Bar Id. # 17184
238 Rockmont Drive
Fort Mill, South Carolina 29708
803-547-6618
803-547-6638 fax
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

May 1, 2018

Other Counsel of Record:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Master in Equity engage in abuse of discretion and err at law by ruling that Plaintiff's injury and causes of action were time-barred?
- II. Was it abuse of discretion and error of law for the trial judge to find that Plaintiff failed to allege facts sufficient to support *any* cause of action against defendant under *any* theory of liability where Plaintiff alleged gross negligence?
- III. Did the trial court err under McCormick and the standard of review by failing to find the alleged facts in the complaint and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom most favorably to the Plaintiff?

PROCEDURAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a York County action filed by Michael Frank March 23, 2017. By its Complaint, Plaintiff alleged (1) gross negligence, (2) defamation, and (3) outrage as against the South Carolina Department of Social Services ("DSS"). Plaintiff's claims arose out of DSS investigations of the plaintiff in a Family Court case, ultimately dismissed for failure to prosecute on March 24, 2015 by Family Court Judge Thomas White, IV.

In this case, on June 23, 2017 the master in equity entered an Order dismissing all of plaintiff's causes of action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and the Tort Claims Act. Plaintiff timely filed a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. By Order dated August 30, 2017 the Master in Equity court denied plaintiff's motion to reconsider, alter or amend. Plaintiff now appeals to this court alleging that the master in equity erred in application of S.C. Code Ann. 15-78-10, et. seq. by ruling as a matter of law that plaintiff's complaint failed to allege facts sufficient under *any* theory of liability against DSS under the master's application of the Tort Claims Act under Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Michael Frank temporarily lost custody of his minor child while under DSS investigation that commenced against him on or about October 31, 2013. (R. p. 6 at ¶3). Allegations were made as against Frank and *re-asserted* as the South Carolina Department of Social Services performed an investigation over the course of several weeks, ultimately ending March 24, 2015. (R. p. 8 at ¶10). On this date Family Court Judge Thomas H. White, IV dismissed all of DSS claims. DSS alleged in York County Family Court that Frank was an alcoholic who drank excessively and was physically abusive to his minor son. A temporary hearing occurred in York County Family Court on December 10, 2013 in the private custody case between Frank and his ex-wife.

DSS agents attended the hearing where on December 10, 2013 hearing DSS *re-asserted* allegations against Frank arising from DSS investigation, including asserting that Frank “was an alcoholic who drank excessively and was physically abusive to his son”. (R. p. 20 at lines 2-5). Until the December 10, 2013 hearing Michael Frank equally shared custody of his minor son with his ex-wife. The allegations made by DSS resulted in Frank being stripped of custody and imposed with supervised visitation. Plaintiff alleged in its complaint DSS gross negligence that directly caused Plaintiff and his son substantial and grave emotional, physical, financial and psychological harm. (R. p. 7 at ¶7).

Plaintiff's complaint also alleged gross negligence against DSS in failing to perform any substantive investigative work throughout the case. Instead of performing substantive investigation, Frank alleges DSS instead engaged in gross negligence in becoming a body of advocacy against him after failing to perform substantive

investigation and fact finding. (R. p. 7 ¶8(a)-(i)). Predicated on DSS failures, Frank alleges that DSS engaged in false witness by re-asserting testimony against him on December 10, 2013. (R. p. 8 ¶14). On March 24, 2015 the Defendant DSS had their investigation closed and their legal filings dismissed. Judge Thomas H. White, IV dismissed the action *sua sponte* citing DSS failure to prosecute. (R.p.8 ¶10). Plaintiff then filed the case sub justice in circuit court. (R. p. 2). This appeal follows two orders of the master in equity in York County applying the Tort Claims Act and dismissing Plaintiff's claims under Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. 72) The court applied the Tort Claims Act (S.C. Code Ann. §15-78-10 et. seq. (1976, as amended) finding the act governs all tort claims against government entities and "...is the exclusive civil remedy available in an action against a governmental entity or its employees." (June 22, 2017 Order, p. 3). Flateau v. Harrelson, 355 S.C. 197, 203, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Murphy v. Richland Mem'l Hosp., 317 S.C. 560, 455 S.E.2d 688 (1995)). The issue on appeal is whether it was abuse of discretion and error of law for the court to find, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and the Tort Claims Act that plaintiff's injury arose effective December 10, 2013 thus being barred.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is directly appealable. Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). "A trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained only if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law." McEachern v. Black, 329 S.C. 642, 647, 496 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 1998). When reviewing a dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, we apply the same standard of review as the trial court. Doe v. Marion, 361

S.C. 463, 470, 605 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2004), cert. granted, Apr. 19, 2006. The trial court's ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion must be based solely on the allegations in the complaint. Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2001). The pleadings must be construed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Id. The motion will not be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). The Complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 116, 628 S.E.2d at 874 (2006). "The question is whether, *in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf*, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007).

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 567, 787 S.E.2d 498, 511 (2016). Generally, the interpretation of a statute of a matter of law. Eldridge v. City of Greenwood, 331 S.C. 398, 503 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1998).

ARGUMENT

- I. The master in equity engaged in abuse of discretion and erred as a matter of law by ruling Plaintiff's injury and all causes of action were time barred.

The court ruled as a matter of law that Plaintiff would have been required to file his lawsuit on or before December 10, 2013 and that Plaintiff commenced suit "well over a year after expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (sic)". (R.p. 48 at line 25-

26). Appellant respectfully asserts the court engaged in abuse of discretion and error of law by finding as law that Plaintiff would have been required to file suit on or before December 10, 2015. (R. p. 48 at lines 24-25). Plaintiff's causes of action under any theory, and Plaintiff's injury, could not be actionable before March 24, 2015. In the motion to reconsider, the court reasons "*In my judgment, Rule 59(e) will not permit a plaintiff to resurrect a time-barred complaint by amending the pleading...*" (R. p. 71 at ¶(2)). Plaintiff filed suit March 23, 2017. In applying the Act while failing to view gross negligence allegations in a light most favorable to Frank, the court found that Plaintiff was time-barred for filing nearly fifteen months after the statute expired. (R. p.48 at line 25-26). The court noted the limitations of the Act §15-78-110; "It provides that "...any action brought pursuant to this chapter is forever barred unless an action is commenced within two years after the date of loss was or should have been discovered." (R. p. 48 lines 11-12, ¶2).

Until the *sua sponte* dismissal by Family Court occurring March 24, 2015 the DSS investigation was open, active and, as pending, beyond reproach by Plaintiff. Plaintiff alleges he was stripped of custody after December 10, 2013 through the March 24, 2015 dismissal and that DSS was grossly negligent in performing its duties. (R. p. 7 at (2)). Plaintiff's complaint alleged that DSS and its employees falsely accused Plaintiff of things he did not do (drinking excessively and abusing his son). (R.p.47 at line 29). Until March 24, 2015, DSS would enjoy tort immunity generally under the Tort Claims Act. Due to judicial immunity, plaintiff could not have challenged DSS. It is not until after family court dismissal of the action *sua sponte*, did Plaintiff's injury, causes of action, or

right to file suit arise. Until said time, the DSS investigation could have resulted in exoneration.

Conversely, the Master in Equity found all claims time barred by the Tort Claims Act analyzing the time of Plaintiff's injury as known to Plaintiff and due to acts or omissions occurring between October 31 and December 10, of year 2013. (R.p.47 ¶(5) and (6)). The court found that Plaintiff knew of the allegedly actionable conduct of DSS and resulting injury at least by December 10, 2013. (R.p.48 at lines 18-20). The court, failing to view the motion most favorably to Frank ignores that a DSS investigation beyond control of the Plaintiff remained pending through March 24, 2015. The master's view of facts of gross negligence most favorably to DSS, as a matter of policy, encourages DSS failures to timely perform substantive investigation thus insulating DSS by the Tort Claims Act. The DSS action was ultimately dismissed by the family court on March 24, 2015 for failure to prosecute. (R.p.47 at line 18-20) Appellant further asserts the trial court engaged in abuse of discretion by viewing most favorably to Defendant, not Plaintiff, that as of March 24, 2015 "there was no adjudication of the claims in that action either in favor of, or against, DSS or Plaintiff in that action." "For all of these reasons, the dismissal for failure to prosecute offers no extension of the time within which Plaintiff's lawsuit had to be commenced." (R. p. 49 at line 5). Appellant respectfully seeks redress from the Court of Appeals predicated on the date of injury March 24, 2015. Had the family court heard DSS case on March 24, 2015 and ruled against Plaintiff, the Plaintiff would have been entitled to direct appeal, at minimum. Appellant avers that the date of the family court dismissal began the effective time for commencement of any action by Plaintiff. Had the court viewed the date of injury under

gross negligence claims most favorably to the non-moving Plaintiff, the suit by Plaintiff would not be time-barred, expiring March 24, 2017. The action was filed in circuit court timely, March 23, 2017. (R. p. 2).

- II. It was abuse of discretion and error of law for the master to find that plaintiff failed to allege facts sufficient to support any claim for relief under any theory of liability where Plaintiff alleged gross negligence.

The Master found that the dismissal of DSS's Family Court action and investigation decided "nothing" (sic), hence the failure to prosecute by DSS offered no extension of the time in which Plaintiff's lawsuit in circuit court would have to have been commenced. "Even if Plaintiff's claims were not time-barred, the facts alleged in Plaintiff's Complaint would not support his claims for defamation or outrage. (R.p. 50 at lines 23-24, ¶3). In reference to the dismissal order, "I went through it and edited it substantially". (R. p. 55 at 17-18). *"Well, let me say this. There is more than one basis for the order. One was the expiration of the Statute of Limitations. I then discussed and tried to express (sic) why the Complaint did not state the facts sufficient to support the causes of action which were alleged; namely defamation of some sort, outrage."* (R.p. 65 at 12). "So in any event, even if the statute of limitations it has not run, which I believe it has - - had - - at that time that the lawsuit was brought, the complaint nevertheless did not state facts sufficient to state a cause of action for defamation and outrage" (*Id.* at. 15).

The trial court erroneously views gross negligence allegations in favor of the moving party, and not Plaintiff. The trial court effectively forecloses any theory of liability alleged by Plaintiff in the complaint, including gross negligence, by imposing the court's view of the date of actionable injury - - December 10, 2013 - - upon Plaintiff's causes of action. The Master in Equity views all facts and inference most favorably to

Defendant. (R. p. 47 ¶(1)). Moreover, the Master erred in substituting the court's view of the weight and sufficiency of any and all of the Plaintiff's claims under the Rule 12(b)(6) standard. (R. p. 47 ¶(5)).

III. The Master erred under *McCormick* applying the standard of review by failing to view all inferences and facts most favorably to the Plaintiff?

The Master in equity applied the bright line time bar of S.C. Code Ann. §15-78-10, *et. seq.* retroactively in dismissing Plaintiff's action. "*In my judgment, Rule 59(e) will not permit a plaintiff to resurrect a time-barred complaint.....That is particularly true where, as here, any claim based on those later events is now, also, time-barred.*" (R. p. 71 at ¶2). The court first utilizes the doctrine of judicial immunity in review of DSS employee testimony which "cannot give rise to a claim of defamation. It is protected by the doctrine of judicial immunity". (R. p. 49 at line 23). The United States Supreme Court has expressly held that, because the testimony of trial witness is "indispensable" in "bringing litigation to a just – or possibly unjust conclusion," that those witnesses enjoy absolute immunity – the court citing Briscoe v. LaHue, 460 U.S. 325 (1983). (Id. at line 26). Plaintiff would have no ability to challenge, and no reason to know, whether the DSS investigation would result in exoneration, however, prior to March 24, 2015.

Failing to view facts and inferences in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, the court misconstrued DSS court *witness testimony* without failure to examine pleaded facts of false and wanton DSS failures to properly do a substantive investigation. DSS conduct transcends investigatory purpose beginning false advocacy on December 10, 2013. It is here that DSS re-asserts false allegations against Frank in Family Court marred by the same failures to substantively investigate claims.

By its Complaint, Plaintiff alleged gross negligence, citing in paragraph (8)(a) through (i) a total of nine instances of willful and wanton misconduct. (R. p. 7 at 8(a)-i). The Complaint also alleged publication by DSS whereby DSS re-asserted false claims, a second time, before the court on December 10, 2013. (Id. at p. 1, ¶ 5). Plaintiff alleged due process violations where DSS without proper substantive investigation inflicted emotional distress and anguish. (R. p. 9 at (23)). If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged on the complaint would entitle the Plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of the motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999). The court failed to view gross negligence allegations and inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the Defendant, inferring ordinary negligence, erroneously viewed as time barred by the Statute of Limitations and the Tort Claims Act. Appellant respectfully asserts the court's review was predicated on abuse of discretion where the court erroneously imposed as law the date of plaintiff's injury and causes of action arise prior to March 24, 2015. (R.p.48 at ¶(3) lines 6-7). Until this date, Plaintiff would in fact have been subject to on-going DSS investigation without recourse. Under the master's reasoning, Plaintiff would have been required to commence and engage in two (2) suits. Plaintiff would, under the court's analysis, have to file its civil lawsuit against DSS while an investigation remained pending, without awaiting adjudication. Viewing all facts and inferences pleaded on the face of the Complaint in a light most favorable to Defendant, the court opines "*further, in the absence of specific allegations that would be outside the scope of privilege, it is reasonably inferable that the alleged defamation occurred with DSS employees testified or presented evidence at the Plaintiff's December 10, 2013 custody hearing.*" (R. p. 48).