THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable S. Jackson Kimball  
Special Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2017-CP-46-00867  
Appellate Case No.: 2017-002024

---

Michael Frank, individually, and as the parent and guardian of a minor, Appellant,

vs

South Carolina Department of Social Services ..... Respondent.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

March 30, 2018.

W. Keith Martens  
Michael E. Hirsch  
HAMILTON MARTENS, LLC  
P.O. Box 10940  
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29731  
(803) 329-7672  
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

OTHER COUNSEL OF RECORD:  
J. Cameron Halford  
Halford, Niemiec & Freeman, L.L.P.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court properly determine that a plaintiff's complaint was subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) where each of the plaintiff's claims was subject to a two-year statute of limitations, where the plaintiff alleged that the acts and omissions giving rise to his claims occurred prior to December 2013, where the plaintiff alleged that he suffered actionable injuries in or about December 2013, but where the plaintiff did not file his complaint until March 2017?
- II. Where a plaintiff made no attempt to amend his pleadings in the trial court, should this court consider his argument that he was "erroneously" deprived of that opportunity?
- III. Is the trial court's dismissal of a plaintiff's claims for defamation and outrage conclusive and final, where the trial court determined that the facts alleged by plaintiff would not support either cause of action, and where the plaintiff did not appeal the trial court's determination of those issues?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Michael Frank ("Frank"), filed this action on March 23, 2017 asserting three causes of action against Respondent, South Carolina Department of Social Services ("SCDSS" or "DSS"). Frank's complaint was based upon SCDSS' involvement in a private custody case between Frank and his ex-wife, and the alleged acts or omissions of SCDSS employees in connection with that case. R. pp. 6-7, ¶¶ 1-9. In particular, Frank alleged that SCDSS employees made "false allegations" against Frank during a December 10, 2013 custody hearing, which resulted in Frank being "stripped of custody" of his minor son. R. pp. 6-7, ¶¶ 5, 7. Frank's complaint included three causes of action: (1) gross negligence; (2) defamation; and (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress. R. p. 6.

Rather than answer Frank's complaint, SCDSS filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) S.C.R. Civ. P. R. p. 11. In support of its motion, SCDSS' raised several, distinct, arguments. First, SCDSS argued that, accepting the factual allegations of Frank's complaint as

true, the entire complaint was barred by the two year statute of limitations codified at § 15-78-100 of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (“TCA”). Id. at 2. Next, DSS argued that the alleged testimony of SCDSS’ employees during Frank’s private custody hearing could not give rise to liability because the employees who testified at that hearing were entitled to absolute immunity. Id. at 3. Finally, SCDSS asserted that the allegations of Frank’s complaint did not support any cognizable claims for outrage or defamation under South Carolina law. Id.

Even after DSS filed its motion to dismiss, Frank did not amend his complaint despite his right to do so “as a matter of course.” *See* S.C. Rule 15(a) S.C.R. Civ. P. (“A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course. . . .”). Nor did Frank ever file any motion seeking “leave of court” to amend his complaint. *See Id.* (“Otherwise a party may amend . . . only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party.”).

On June 15, 2017, the parties appeared before S. Jackson Kimball, III, Special Circuit Court Judge, for a hearing on SCDSS’ motion to dismiss. Frank’s Counsel appeared at that hearing “to kind of explain where I think we’ve met our burden as far as this hearing and pleading properly,”<sup>1</sup> but Frank did not seek, and the trial court did not consider, any motion by Frank to amend his pleadings during the June 15, 2017 hearing. *See* Transcript R. p. 16. Following that hearing, Judge Kimball issued an order granting SCDSS’ motion and dismissing Frank’s complaint in its entirety. R. p. 46.

In dismissing Frank’s complaint, the trial court first determined that Frank’s claims were barred by expiration of the TCA’s two-year statute of limitations. Id. at 3-4. The court also concluded that, even if Frank’s claims were not time-barred, the complaint did not allege facts that would support Frank’s claims for defamation or outrage. Id. at 4-5.

---

<sup>1</sup> R. p. 16 at 12.

Frank moved for reconsideration of the trial court's order on July 3, 2017. R. p. 52. On August 29, 2017, Judge Kimball issued an order denying Frank's motion. R. p. 70. This appeal followed.

#### STATEMENT OF ALLEGED FACTS

Because Frank's complaint was dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) S.C. R. Civ. P., this court's review is constrained to the factual allegations of the complaint. Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 379, 533 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). For that reason, SCDSS takes issue with some portions of Appellant's Statement of Facts. Notably, in his Statement of Facts and elsewhere in his appeal brief, Frank contends (without any citation to the record) that "Plaintiff's complaint also alleged gross negligence against DSS in failing to perform any substantive investigative work throughout the [DSS Child Protective Services] case." Appellant's Brief at 2, 5. However, no such allegation actually appears in Frank's now-dismissed complaint.

Only the factual allegations of Frank's complaint were considered by the trial court, and only those factual allegations may be considered by this court on appeal. They are limited to the following:

Frank and his minor son are residents of York County, South Carolina. R. p. 6 ¶ 1. On or about October 31, 2013, SCDSS opened an investigation, based upon reports that Frank "was an alcoholic who drank excessively and was physically abusive to his son." Id. ¶ 3.

During this same period of time, Frank was also involved in a private custody dispute with his ex-wife. Id. ¶4. On December 10, 2013, a hearing was held in Frank's private custody case. Id. "[A]gents/representatives" of DSS attended that hearing and "reasserted their allegations regarding [Frank's] use of alcohol and physical abuse toward [his son]." Id. ¶ 5. DSS and its "agents, representatives, assignees and employees" had not done "any substantive

investigatory work” to determine the veracity of the statements they provided at the December 10, 2013 custody hearing, and they gave “false, misleading and inaccurate testimony and documentary evidence to the court.” Id. ¶ 8. “As a result of the allegations” made by DSS at that hearing, Frank was “stripped of custody and was only allowed supervised visitation with his son.” Id. ¶ 7. The actions of DSS and its employees, “*as set forth above,*” caused Frank and his son to suffer “substantial and grave emotional, physical, financial and psychological harm.” Id. ¶ 9.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellant bears the burden of providing the court with a record sufficient to allow appellate review. Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of South Carolina, Inc., 339 S.C. 285, 306, 529 S.E.2d 45, 57 (Ct. App. 2000)(citing Medlock v. One 1985 Jeep Cherokee, 322 S.C. 127, 470 S.E.2d 373 (1996)). An issue is not preserved for review where it has not been raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Id. (citing Hotltzcheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497 (1998)).

When reviewing a trial court’s dismissal of a complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), “the appellate tribunal applies the same standard of review that was implemented by the trial court.” Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 379, 533 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing O’Laughlin v. Windham, 330 S.C. 379, 498 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 1998)). As such, an appellate court’s review is limited solely to the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. Id. (citations omitted). “The question to be considered is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the pleadings articulate any valid claim for relief.” Id. (citations omitted). “The grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained only if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law.” Id. (citing Stiles v. Onorator, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995)).

## ARGUMENTS

- I. The trial court properly dismissed Frank's complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) because, accepting the factual allegations of the Complaint as true, Frank's claims for relief accrued in December 2013 but Frank did not commence this action until March 2017, well after expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

The trial court properly determined that Frank's claims against SCDSS were barred by the two-year statute of limitations contained in the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. R. p. 48. Any action under the Tort Claims Act is "forever barred" unless it is brought "within two years after the date the loss was or should have been discovered." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 (2017). As the trial court recognized, Frank's entire complaint was premised upon his assertion that DSS employees failed to properly investigate claims against Plaintiff and then "falsely accused Plaintiff of things he did not do" at a Family Court hearing on December 10, 2013. R. p. 48. So too, Frank's primary alleged loss (being "stripped of custody" of his son<sup>2</sup>) also occurred on December 10, 2013, "or very soon thereafter." Id. For that reason, the trial court concluded that, in order for Frank to pursue a claim based upon those allegations, he "would have been required to file his lawsuit on or before December 10, 2015." Id.

On appeal, Frank does not dispute that his claims are subject to a two-year statute of limitations. Instead, he contends that his alleged "loss" did not occur until March 2015, when DSS' child-protective services case was dismissed. Appellant's Brief at 5. There are several fallacies with this position.

As an initial matter, Frank appears to conflate his private custody case with the DSS child-protective services case (the "CPS Case"). The alleged harm for which Frank seeks redress was allegedly a "direct and proximate result" of DSS' involvement in his private custody action

---

<sup>2</sup> R. p. 7 ¶ 7.

and, in particular, DSS' conduct at a December 10, 2013 hearing in that case. Frank's claims, as set forth in his complaint, have nothing to do with DSS' handling of the CPS Case.<sup>3</sup> See R. pp. 6-7, ¶ 4, 5, 7 & 9. It is implausible that Frank's causes of action against DSS did not accrue until the CPS Case was dismissed, when the claims asserted in his complaint do not even touch upon that case.

Frank also erroneously contends that his "injury, causes of action, or right to file suit" against DSS did not arise until the CPS Case was finally concluded. However, none of Frank's claims against DSS was dependent upon dismissal of the CPS Case, and nothing would have precluded Frank from commencing his lawsuit as soon as he was aware of DSS' alleged actionable conduct and his resulting injuries. As the trial court recognized, Frank discovered DSS' alleged wrongs and his alleged injuries "on or about December 10, 2013, and that is when his claims accrued." R. p. 48; see also Gillman v. City of Beaufort, 368 S.C. 24, 27, 627 S.E.2d 746, 748 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Under the discovery rule, the statutory limitations period begins to run from the date when the injury resulting from the wrongful conduct is discovered or may be discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence."). Contrary to Frank's assertion, dismissal of DSS' CPS Case in March 2015 was not a "triggering event" causing his claims to accrue on that date. Nor did the ongoing CPS Case toll the statute of limitations on Frank's claims.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Even if Frank had claims arising from DSS' handling of his CPS Case, those are not claims that he asserted in his complaint. See R. p. 62. (Frank's Counsel: "[At the hearing on DSS' motion to dismiss] the court said that malicious prosecution might apply. We would certainly like the opportunity to explore that.").

<sup>4</sup> Frank contends, without authority, that he could *not* file this action until the CPS Case was dismissed. Appellant's Brief at 5. Even if the pending CPS Case somehow precluded Frank from filing this action, Frank cannot ignore that approximately seven months elapsed between dismissal of the CPS Case (allegedly, March 24, 2015) and expiration of the statute of limitations on his claims (December 10, 2015).

Most importantly, Frank's position on appeal cannot be reconciled with the allegations of his own complaint. While Frank argues on appeal that his complaint could be construed (or amended) to allege some other wrongdoing that went undiscovered until March 24, 2015, no such allegations actually appear in Frank's complaint. The trial court was, and this court is, required only to determine whether "the facts alleged in the complaint . . . support relief under any theory of law." Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 379, 533 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added). The facts alleged in Frank's complaint do not, because they all occurred more than two years before Frank filed his lawsuit. Frank suffered alleged damages when he was "stripped of custody" of his son following the family court's December 2013 private custody hearing. R. p. 7 ¶ 7: The trial court properly concluded that Frank's claims, based upon the facts alleged in his complaint, were time-barred and, therefore, subject to dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) S.C. R. Civ. P. This court should affirm.

- II. This court should not consider Frank's argument that a "more appropriate remedy" would have been to permit Frank to amend his complaint, because Frank never attempted to amend and, therefore, he did not preserve the issue for appeal.

On appeal, Frank contends that he should have been allowed to amend his complaint to assert additional claims that, presumably, would relate back to the date he initially filed his complaint and allow him to avoid dismissal. It is not clear what additional claims Frank *might* have asserted in an amended complaint because he never filed or served any amended pleadings, even though he had that opportunity "as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served." Rule 15(a) S.C.R. Civ. P. Nor did Frank file any motion or make any written request to amend his pleadings. *See id.* ("Otherwise, a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party."). Frank took no action whatsoever to amend his pleadings before his complaint was dismissed. Only following

dismissal, when Frank filed his Rule 59(e) motion, did he assert (for the first time) that “the appropriate remedy would be to allow the Plaintiff to amend his pleadings to provide a more specific factual basis for timeliness and to allow the Plaintiff to add or subtract appropriate claims.” R. p. 52.

It is a fundamental principle of civil litigation that “an application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or in open court with a court reporter present, shall be made in writing, shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief sought.” Rule 7(b)(1) S.C.R. Civ. P. “Normally, motions must be made on the record to be preserved.” Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of South Carolina, Inc., 339 S.C. 285, 306, 529 S.E.2d 45, 56 (Ct. App. 2000). It is also a fundamental principle of civil litigation that “an issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” Johnson v. Sonoco Products Co., 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009). In this case, the record is devoid of any evidence that Frank attempted to amend his defective pleadings, either as a “matter of right” or by motion filed with the court, prior to dismissal of his complaint.

Although Frank now argues that he “should” have been permitted to amend his complaint, rather than suffer dismissal, he never raised that issue until he moved for reconsideration of the trial court’s order of dismissal. See R. p. 52. Frank has not preserved that issue for appeal, and it would be entirely improper for this court to consider whether the trial court “should” have granted a motion that Frank never made. Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of South Carolina, Inc., 339 S.C. 285, 306, 529 S.E.2d 45, 56 (Ct. App. 2000)(an issue “is not preserved for appellate review where it has not been raised to or ruled upon by the trial court.”); Johnson, 381 S.C. at 177, 672 S.E.2d at 570 (an issue that “first appears in [a] motion seeking reconsideration of the circuit court’s . . . order” is not preserved).

Even if Frank had preserved the issue for appeal, the trial court correctly ruled that Rule 59(e) “will not permit a plaintiff to resurrect a time-barred complaint by amending the pleading to assert ‘alternative’ theories of liability premised upon different alleged acts or omissions.”

R. p. 71. As the trial court recognized, “While Rule 12(b)(6) generally affords a plaintiff an opportunity to remedy a defective pleading through amendment, the plaintiff must first demonstrate that ‘the allegations *set forth on the face of the complaint* . . . and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on [some] theory of the case.’” *Id.* at 1-2 (emphasis in court’s order)(quoting *Toussaint v. Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987)). The factual allegations set forth on the face of Frank’s complaint could not clear this hurdle. It was proper for the trial court to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), and the trial court’s order should be affirmed.

- III. Because Frank has not appealed the trial court’s alternative grounds dismissing his claims for outrage and defamation, the trial court’s dismissal of those claims is determinative, even if Frank’s complaint were not time barred.

While not entirely clear, it appears that Frank’s appeal primarily challenges the trial court’s dismissal of his claim for gross negligence. *See* Appellant’s Brief at 7-9. Frank’s brief emphasizes that his first cause of action was for gross negligence, as opposed to “regular” negligence, but that distinction is inconsequential. The applicable statute of limitations would bar either cause of action “unless an action is commenced within two years after the date the loss was or should have been discovered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 (Law. Co-op. 2005).

Frank has not made any argument that the trial court improperly dismissed his claims for defamation and outrage, based upon his failure to allege sufficient facts to supporting those claims. *See* R. pp. 49-50. Frank’s brief only makes passing reference to those rulings, without contending that they were wrong. Appellant’s Brief at 7. Those determinations are not before

this court. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B) S.C. App. Ct. R. (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.”). Even if this court were to determine that Frank’s claims did not accrue until March 24, 2015, that determination cannot restore his causes of action for defamation or outrage.

#### CONCLUSION